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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS. CRIMINAL NO. 3:08CR014

ROBERT L. MOULTRIE, et al.

______________________________________________________________________

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT
OF MOTION OF CAROTHERS CONSTRUCTION

CO., INC. TO QUASH SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM
______________________________________________________________________

I. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN
THE RELEVANT PLAYERS

Carothers Construction Company, Inc. was the general contractor on the beef plant

project.  Its contract was for approximately 16 to 18 million dollars and was with Mississippi

Beef Processors, LLC.  It was in two parts: (1) plant design; and, (2) construction of the

processing plant. 

Richard Hall had a second contract with Mississippi Beef Processors, LLC.  It was

also in the approximate amount of 16 to 17 million and was for the processing machinery

to go in the plant.

Because of innumerable problems in getting the plant on line, The Facility Group

(“TFG”) was hired to do a cost estimate to finish the job.  When TFG gave its report as to

the estimated cost to finish the project; it also made a proposal for it to take over the job as

the Construction Manager, and, who in that capacity, would oversee and supervise both

the Carothers construction contract and the Hall equipment contract.  According to Sean
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Carothers, TFG’s proposal was simply to add six million dollars for its fee to the bottom line

cost for the job.  The six million dollar figure to include $3,548,000 as a lump sum fee; and,

an additional guaranteed $2,500,000 for reimbursable costs.

When TFG made its proposal, Sean Carothers asked also to be allowed to make a

competing proposal.  The MDA and the bank wanted to have a “red meat” specialist

involved in the project.  For this reason Carothers teamed up with Herndon-Redmond, an

Ohio process engineering firm, to make a joint proposal.

The Carothers-Herndon proposal was rejected and TFG’s accepted.  When installed

as Project Manager, TFG, in effect, became the “boss” over both Carothers Construction

and Hall. 

II. A SUMMARY OF THE INDICTMENT

Introduction

The dates provided in this memo are approximate.  The Facility Group is referred

to as “TFG.”  The public official alleged to be involved is referred to as “the public official.”

The Mississippi Beef Processors Plant is referred to as “the beef plant.” 

Count One of The Indictment

Count One of the indictment alleges the defendants conspired in violation of 18 USC

§371 to violate 18 UCS §662(a)(2) which makes it a crime to corruptly give $5,000 or more

to “any person” with the intent to influence “an agent...of a State...in connection with any

business, transaction, or series of transactions....”1

Case 3:08-cr-00014-MPM-SAA     Document 116      Filed 07/16/2008     Page 2 of 33



2Note that this was the state official with apparent final executive decision making
authority for matters related to the beef plant. 

Page 3 of 33

The indictment lists the alleged overt acts taken in furtherance of the conspiracy in

¶¶28 through 44.   These overt acts may be summarized as follows:

On February 24, 2003, TFG made a proposal to Community Bank to: (1) evaluate

the construction of the beef plant; and, (2) take the project over as project manager to

superintend the remainder of the plant’s design and construction.  In late March or early

April 03, the defendant, Robert Moultrie, CEO of TFG, contacted Robin Williams, a

consultant employed by TFG, and asked him to set up a meeting between Moultrie and the

public official2 so that Moultrie could promote his desire to have TFG selected as project

manager for the remainder of the beef plant project. 

Williams did as instructed and on April 2, 2003, Williams and Moultrie met with the

public official.  Also at this meeting was the chairman for the public official’s re-election

campaign committee.  On April 29, 2003, TFG submitted an invoice to the state for

payment of Moultrie’s time and travel for the meeting with the public official and the

chairman of his re-election campaign.

On April 23, 2003, TFG executed a letter of intent with the Mississippi Land, Water

& Timber Resources Board stating the parties intent to negotiate a contract, the object of

which was to make TFG Project Manager at the beef plant.  On June 13, 2003, the

defendants signed an “Appointment Agreement” whereby TFG was made the agent of

Mississippi Beef Processors for the purpose of managing the remaining design and

construction of the beef plant.

On July 7, 2003, Moultrie send out invitations for a political fund-raiser to be held for
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the Mississippi public official.  In mid-July 03 the defendants instructed TFG employees

who had been invited to the political fund-raiser to make out their personal checks each in

the amount of $1,000 made payable to the public official’s re-election campaign.

Four days after sending out the invitations, on July 11, 2003, TFG entered into a

“Project Management Agreement” with the State Board and the bank financing the project.

The contract provided for two forms of compensation for TFG.  The first was a lump sum

payment of $3,548,000.  The second was reimbursement of expenses incurred in the beef

plant project, at actual cost, with a minimum reimbursement of $2,500,000 and a maximum

reimbursement of $3,021,000.  The latter compensation was called “Services

Compensation.”

The political fund-raiser was held on July 23, 2003, and TFG employees, as

instructed, each gave personal checks in the amount of $1,000 to the public official’s re-

election campaign.  Later in July Moultrie gave TFG’s Controller a list of the employees who

had made “contributions” to the re-election campaign and had the Controller issue TFG

checks to reimburse them.  The Controller disguised the reimbursements as employee

“bonuses” and each check was made in an amount sufficient to allow a net of $1,000 after

payroll tax deductions.

On July 29, 2003, Moultrie and TFG also created a PAC.  On August 13, 2003, it

donated $20,000 to the public official’s re-election campaign and the PAC donated another

$25,000 on September 30, 2003.  

From August 2003 to March 04, TFG submitted inflated costs for reimbursement on

the beef plant project in the form of false labor billings for time not spent on the project. 

These billings for inflated costs were designed and intended by the defendants to
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reimburse TFG for both the individual employee political donations and the PAC donations.

Count Two of The Indictment

Count Two of the indictment alleges the defendants are guilty of mail fraud in

violation of 18 USC §1341.  The two elements of this crime are: (1) devising a scheme to

defraud; and, (2) use of the mails to execute the scheme.  Schmuck v. United States, 489

U.S. 705, 721 n. 10 (1989); see also Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S. 1, 8 (1954). 

The scheme to defraud is alleged in ¶¶12 through 26 of the Indictment.3  The facts

purported by the Government to be a part of the alleged scheme may be summarized as

follows: 

Under its Project Management Agreement, in addition to its flat fee of $3,548,000,

TFG was to receive a minimum cost reimbursement of $2,500,000.  To the extent costs

were less than $3,021,418, TFG would receive 50% of the savings with the other 50% to

go to Richard Hall.

The defendants submitted a proposed budget for TFG’s projected labor and

expenses, including the savings to be split 50/50 with Hall; with these amounts to be paid

to TFG under the “Services Compensation” portion of the contract.  According to the

Government, “Instead, starting with the first invoice submitted and continuing until THE

FACILITY GROUP had depleted all of the ‘Services Compensation’ portion of the contract,

THE FACILITY GROUP grossly overstated and inflated its costs, thereby unlawfully

profiting from a pool of money specifically set aside not for THE FACILITY GROUP’S profit,
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but solely for its reimbursement of ‘costs.’”4  

According to the Government the Defendants “devised and executed a scheme to

over bill the project by presenting fraudulent, overstated and inflated costs...for

reimbursement and to seek reimbursement for services THE FACILITY GROUP did not

provide and for costs THE FACILITY GROUP did not incur.  In doing so, THE FACILITY

GROUP presented false and fraudulent documentation to conceal and disguise their

scheme to defraud.”5 

Examples of false documentation alleged in the indictment include:

! creating false schedules of hours for TFG accounting dept employees;

! creating false time sheets for hours allegedly worked; and,

! directing employees to bill the beef plant for work on other projects.

As examples of things done to prevent the scheme’s discovery, the Government

alleges TFG Refused to provide Hall with accounting records to explain costs billed by TFG

and knowingly and falsely represented to vendors that “contingencies” had been built in the

contract for cost over-runs when they were not.  The government contends TFG defrauded

the vendors and subcontractors because when it knew there was no money left in the

project to pay them, TFG continued to cause them to provide parts, equipment and labor

for which they were never paid.

The government alleges the defendants executed the scheme by sending a

fraudulent request for payment by Federal Express, an interstate carrier, on or about July
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7, 2003.  Counts three through sixteen of the indictment represent additional allegation of

fraudulent billings sent by the interstate carrier.

III. THE EXPECTED TESTIMONY
OF SEAN CAROTHERS

A List of Players

Facility Holding Corporation d/b/a The Facility Group (the “holding company”) has

seventeen (17) wholly owned subsidiaries.  One subsidiary is Facility Construction

Management, Inc. (the “construction company”).  Another is Facility Management Group,

Inc. (the “management company”).  Yet another is Facility Design Group, Inc. (the “design

company”). 

Sean Carothers is the President of Carothers Construction Company, Inc.  As stated

above Carothers Construction had the original contract for the construction of the beef plant

building, but not the processing machinery.

Pursuant to his previously entered amended plea agreement, Sean Carothers, on

August 1, 2007, pled guilty to one count of aiding and abetting in mail fraud in violation of

18 U.S.C. §§2 and 1341.  More specifically, in Criminal Case No. 3:07CR001, he pled guilty

to aiding Richard Hall, Jr., to obtain $173,130 by false pretenses in connection with the now

failed beef plant constructed in Oakland.

The $173,130 was for “consulting” fees paid to Mr. Hall by Carothers Construction

Company for his expertise during the plant’s construction.  Mr. Carother’s fraud involved

his efforts in aiding Mr. Hall in disguising these fees so that they would remain unknown to

the state and other project financiers.

Mr. Carother’s complicity, however, appears to have been bad judgment rather than
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greed.  Neither Sean Carothers nor his company, Carothers Construction Company,

received either any money or any thing else of value in return for Mr. Carother’s assistance

in hiding these payments.  Likewise, Carothers contends that Carother’s Construction

Company gave the beef plant company and the state of Mississippi good value for their

money.  That is to say – All of the work contracted to be done by Carother’s Construction

Company was timely done in a good and workmanlike manner in accordance with all

contract requirements.  There is nothing which either Sean Carothers or Carothers

Construction Company did or failed to do which materially contributed to the failure of the

beef plant.  Also, neither the beef plant nor the State of Mississippi paid for any work done

by Carothers on Mr. Hall’s home.  In fact, Hall never paid Carothers for the work. 

Intercompany Overhead & Profit Billing6

The beef plant contract was between Mississippi Beef Processors, the owner, and

the construction company.  The contract in defining compensable costs provides that costs

would be reimbursed “but not including general overhead and profit.”  

Although the construction company was the party to the contract, the work done

under the contract was actually performed by management company employees and the

management company, in turn, billed their time to the construction company.  It was not

however billed at actual cost.  Instead, it was actual cost, plus a mark-up for “inter-company
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profit.”  The management company also billed the cost of its insurance (general liability,

professional liability and umbrella) to the construction company.  It added the same

prohibited “inter-company profit” to the insurance costs billed to the construction company.

The government alleges the holding company and its subsidiaries generated

fictitious cost reports when it generated claims including actual cost, plus a hidden “inter-

company profit.”  According to Sean Carothers, who is expected to testify on behalf of the

Government, the “inter-company profits” added an additional 1.5 million to TFG’s  actual

costs. 

Contrary to the contract provision which prohibited the construction company from

billing the government for its general overhead, the management company billed the

construction company its allocated overhead with apparently no supporting documentation.

The construction company then passed the management company’s overhead cost along

to the beef plant in its billing for its “actual costs.”

Design Overbilling

Management company employees actually did the design work and then billed it to

the design company; also adding in the “inter-company profit.”  The design company then,

in turn, billed the construction company a flat fee of approximately $580,000 for design

work.  The construction company then, in turn, billed this entire amount to the government

as an “actual cost.”  According to Sean Carothers, this resulted in the construction

company realizing an additional $280,000 in hidden profits.  

Other Allocated Costs

Other allocated costs included data processing, office telephone, office supplies, and

equipment.  Although specifically excluded in the contract as non-reimbursable overhead
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costs, these items were billed to the construction company by its sister companies.  The

construction company then passed these overhead charges along to the government as

an “actual cost.”  According to Sean Carothers this netted TFG an additional $190,000 in

unearned profits.

Accounting Costs

According to Sean Carothers’ report, in the Construction industry, accounting costs

are customarily not billed to the project owner.  Notwithstanding, the construction company

billed its accounting costs directly to Mississippi Beef Processors and the bank.  This,

according to the Carothers report, not only violated the “no overhead” provision but it also

included the use of false and fictitious work schedules and time sheets.

IV. GENERAL LEGAL PRINCIPLES

The Burden of Proof

“On a motion to quash a 17(c) subpoena, the subpoena’s proponent bears the

burden of proving that it should be enforced.”  United States v. Ferguson, 2007 WL

2815068 (D. Conn. 2007).

Moultrie’s Ex Parte Application Was Improper

This subpoena duces tecum was applied for and issued ex parte with no notice

given to Carothers Construction Company, Inc.  The weight of authority is however that it

is improper for a defendant represented by retained counsel with the financial means to

defend himself to have a Rule 17(c) subpoena issued ex parte.  An indigent may, however,

have one issued ex parte but only upon a showing of  “exceptional circumstances” which

means that having given the subpoenaed party notice prior to issuance would have: (1)

divulged trial strategy, witness list or work-product; (2) imperiled the source or integrity of
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the subpoenaed evidence; or, (3) undermined a fundamental privacy or constitutional

interest of the defendant.  United States v. Johnson, 2004 WL 877359 (E.D. La. 2004)

citing United States v. Beckford, 964 F. Supp. 1010 (E.D. Va. 1997); United States v.

Urlacher, 136 F.R.D. 550 (W.D.N.Y. 1991); and, United States v. Hart, 826 F. Supp. 380

(D. Colo. 1993).  If the only need is “that of facilitating preparation of the defense” which “is

present in every case,” there is no “extraordinary” need. United States v. Bridges, 2006 WL

3716653 (E.D. Tenn. 2006). 

In this case Moultrie is not indigent and made no attempt to allege or show any

“exceptional” or “extraordinary” circumstances warranting the ex parte issuance of this

subpoena.  For this reason alone the subpoena should be quashed.

Standing To Quash

Most courts which have considered the issue have held the Government has no

standing to move to quash a Rule 17 subpoena duces tecum served on a third party.

United States v. Williams, 2007 WL 2287819 (E.D. La. 2007).  Nevertheless, “‘[t]he burden

is on the court to see that the subpoena is good in its entirety and it is not upon the

[subpoenaed party] to cull the good from the bad.’” Id.  For cases reaching the similar

conclusions see: United States v. Daniels, 95 F. Supp2d 1160, 1164 (D. Kan. 2000)

(Government has no standing to move to quash); United States v. Nachamie, 91 F. Supp2d

552 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (Government has no standing to move to quash); United States v.

Witting, 2008 WL 2556693 (D. Kan. 2008) (Government may object to issuance but has no

standing to move to quash); United States v. Wecht, 2008 WL 250549 (W.D. Pa. 2008)

(Government has no standing to move to quash but court still has the “responsibility to

ensure that the subpoena is for a proper purpose and complies with the requirements of
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17(c).”); United States v. Weissman, 2002 WL 31875410 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (same); but see:

United States v. Ail, 2008 WL 1229415 (D. Ore. 2007) (Government has standing to move

to quash subpoena duces tecum issued to cooperating government witnesses); and, United

States v. Giampa, 1992 WL 296440 (Government has “heightened interest” and thus

standing to move to quash subpoenas issued to three witnesses in the witness protection

program).

The Nixon Paradigm For Analysis

A party seeking the issuance of a Rule 17(c) subpoena has the burden of proving:

! The documents are relevant

! The documents are admissible in evidence

! The documents are not otherwise procurable with due diligence

! The defendant cannot properly prepare without the documents

! Failure to obtain the documents in advance may unreasonably delay the trial

! The application is made in good faith, viz. – it is not a “fishing expedition”

United States v. Arditti, 955 F2d 331 (5th Cir. 1992), citing United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S.

683, 94 S.Ct. 3090, 41 L. Ed. 2d 1039 (1974).  To the same effect see the earlier case of

United States v. Bearden, 423 F2d 805, 801 n. 4 (5th Cir. 1970).  These requirements are

not pro forma, they are “exacting requirements” which must be met by the party seeking

the subpoena.  United States v. Bermingham, 2007 WL 1052600 (S.D. Tex. 2007).

Rule 17(c) Is Not A “Liberal” Discovery Rule

Moultrie would lead the Court to believe that Rule 17 creates some right in the

defendant to obtain more liberal discovery than is available under Criminal Rule 16.  Thus

he asserts, “Rule 16, however, does not set any limits on the materials available under Rule
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17.”7  And at another place he describes the purpose of Rule 17(c) to be “establishing a

more liberal policy for the production, inspection and use of materials at the trial.”8

Rule 17 not only does not prescribe any more “liberal” discovery rule, it is not even

a discovery device.  Rule 17 “is not intended to provide an additional means of discovery.”

United States v. Arditti, supra., 955 F2d at 345.  In affirming the District Court’s decision to

quash the Rule 17 subpoena, the Arditti Court also said, “[I]t appears that Arditti was

attempting to use the subpoena to gain knowledge that he could not obtain under rule

16(a)(1), as much as to obtain evidence, i.e., that he was trying ‘to use the subpoena duces

tecum as a discovery device, which it is not.’”  United States v. Arditti, supra., 955 F2d at

346.  As one District Court noted, “It is clear, however, that Rule 17(c) was not intended to

expand the scope of criminal discovery under Rule 16....”  United States v. Ail, 2007 WL

1229415 (D. Ore. 2007).

For other cases to the same effect see: United States v. Williams, 2007 WL 2287819

(E.D. La. 2007) (“Rule 17(c) is not intended to provide an additional means of discovery,

but, rather, to expedite the trial by allowing pretrial inspection of subpoenaed material....”);

United States v. Smith, 1997 WL 79291 (E.D. La. 1997) (“As to Rule 17(c) itself, it may not

be used as a discovery device....”); United States v. Hardy, 224 F3d 752, 755 (8th Cir. 2000)

(“Rule 17(c) ‘was not intended to provide an additional means of discovery....”); United

States v. Dent, 149 F3d 180, 191 (3rd Cir. 1998) (“Rule 17(c) was not intended to be a

broad discovery device....”); United States v. Fields, 663 F2d 880, 881 (9th Cir. 1981) (“...we
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see no basis for using a lesser evidentiary standard merely because production is sought

from a third party rather than from the United States.”); and, United States v. Ball, 1999 WL

974028 (D. Kan. 1999) (“...Rule 17(c) was not intended to provide a means of

discovery...but to expedite the trial by providing a time and place before trial for the

inspection of subpoenaed materials....In other words, Rule 17(c)...offers compulsory

process for securing specific, identifiable evidence for trial.”).

V. THE NIXON ANALYSIS OF MOULTRIE’S SUBPOENA

Impeachment Will Not Support A Rule 17 Subpoena

Sean Carothers is expected to be called by the Government as a witness to explain

to the jury, based on TFG’s accounting and other records, how he contends TFG devised

and carried out a scheme to defraud the owners, financiers, sub-contractors, and material

suppliers on the beef plant project.

What Moultrie seeks by his subpoena can be broken down into five broad

categories:

(1) Records reflecting how Carothers Construction billed the beef plant project

under Carothers’ contract to build the beef plant;

(2) Records reflecting how Carothers Construction would have billed the beef

plant project under its rejected bid to be Project Manager;

(3) All documents showing money paid by Carothers Construction or Sean

Carothers to Richard Hall or any entity Hall had an interest in; 

(4) All correspondence between Carothers Construction and any other entity

involved in any aspect of the beef plant project; and,

(5) All communications passing between Carothers Construction and attorneys
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William Purdy or Ralph Germany.

If Moultrie were to obtain the documents which he  demands by his subpoena, their

sole purpose would be to impeach Carothers and his testimony.  The hoped for

impeachment value of the documents falls into three categories.

The first line of impeachment would be “he did it too so don’t believe him when he

says it was wrong.”  The defendants intend to use the bulk of the documents demanded,

the first and second groups,9 to impeach Sean Carothers’ credibility by hopefully, from the

defendants point of view, forcing him to agree with the proposition that Carothers

Construction Company, both in carrying out its construction contract and in its proposal to

take the job over as Project Manager, calculated its labor and insurance costs the same

way that TFG did and for which TFG has been indicted.  On a related point they would also

use the documents to impeach Sean Carothers’ credibility by hopefully, from the

defendants point of view, forcing him to agree with the proposition that the manner in which

both TFG and Carothers Construction calculated their labor and insurance costs is an

accepted industry standard in the construction industry.

Demand number 10, the third group of documents, is for all documents showing any

money transferred from Carothers Construction and/or Sean Carothers to Richard Hall or

any entity owned or controlled by Richard Hall.   The second line of impeachment with the

documents would be “you can’t believe anything Sean Carothers says because he’s a

crook.  He paid the taxpayer’s hard earned money under the table to another crook, the

convicted felon, Richard Hall.”
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The fourth group of documents demanded is all correspondence between Carothers

Construction Company and any other person or entity involved in the beef plant project.10

The fifth group also includes the demand for all documents evidencing communications

between Carothers Construction Company and its attorneys, William Purdy and Ralph

Germany.11  If Moultrie is successful in obtaining these “fishing expedition” documents, the

third line of impeachment will be, “You can’t believe Sean Carothers because (to be filled

in by whatever the ‘fishing expedition’ may show or imply.)”

The Rule 17 case law makes it crystal clear that seeking material for impeachment

does not furnish sufficient grounds to support the issuance or avoid the quashing of a

subpoena duces tecum.  “The need for evidence to impeach witnesses is in sufficient to

require its production in advance of trial.”  United States v. Daigle, 1993 WL 85936 (E.D.

La. 1993), citing United States v. Nixon, supra., 94 S.Ct. at 3104.  For other cases to the

same effect see: United States v. Hardy, supra., 224 F3d at 756 (“[g]enerally, the need for

evidence to impeach witnesses is insufficient to require its production in advance of trial

[under Rule 17(c)].”); United States v. Fields, 663 F2d 880, 881 (9th Cir. 1981) (“This use

[impeachment] is generally insufficient to justify the pretrial production of documents....”);

and, United States v. Jasper, 2003 WL 1107526 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“documents are ‘not

evidentiary for Rule 17(c) purposes if their use is limited to impeachment....”)

The Documents Demanded Have No
Relevance To The Issues

Subpoenaed items are “‘material to preparing the defense’ if they are material to the
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defendant’s ‘response to the Government’s case-in-chief.’” United States v. Ail, 2007 WL

1229415 (D. Ore. 2007).   The defendant’s burden is to prove that the documents sought

are material to some issue in the case and admissible as a part of defendant’s case-in-

chief. Id. To prove relevance Moultrie would have to show the court that even if Sean

Carothers did not testify, the subpoenaed documents would be relevant to some issue in

the defendant’s case-in-chief.

In order to demonstrate relevance, the defendant must show “more than the title of

a document and conjecture as to its contents.”  United States v. Hardy, 224 F3d 752, 755

(8th Cir. 2000) quoting United States v. Arditti, 955 F2d 331, 346 (5th Cir. 1992).  In this case

while the defendant has conjectured as to what the documents might contain, he has not

even named specific documents, only categories of documents.  To pass the relevance test

the defendant must “set forth what the materials contain, else the court is left to speculate

on the contents and relevance.”  United States v. Daigle, 1993 WL 85936 (E.D. La. 1993).

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to
make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the
determination of the action more probable or less probable
than it would be without the evidence....Absent detailed
information about the documents sought in a Rule 17(c)
subpoena, a court is left only ‘to speculate as to the specific
nature of their contents and relevance....Conclusory allegations
of relevance are insufficient.”  United States v. Skilling, 2006
WL 1006622 (S.D. Tex. 2006) (emphasis added).

Under Count I of the Indictment, the issues are:

1. Did the defendants give a state official $5,000 or more?

2. If so, was the money given with the intent to influence the official? and,

3. Was the sought after influence in connection with a business transaction?

Under Count II of the Indictment, the issues are:
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1. Did the contract between Mississippi Beef Processors and TFG allow TFG

to claim inter-company overhead and profit?

2. If the answer to question no. 1 is “no,” did TFG claim inter-company

overhead and profit?

3. If TFG claimed inter-company overhead and profit, did it try to disguise its

claims so that the person’s paying the bills would not know that TFG was

claiming inter-company overhead and profit?

4. If TFG attempted to disguise its claims for inter-company overhead and

profits, did this amount to a scheme to defraud?

Notwithstanding the Indictment, Moultrie claims the issues in this case revolve

around:

1. “The negotiations which culminated with the Agreement;”12 and,

2. “[T]he execution of the agreement.”13

According to TFG the demanded documents are relevant to the following issues:

1. The status of the beef plant project prior to and at the time of the Bank’s

request for the TFG study;

2. The process of design and construction of the plant; and,
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3. TFG’s performance of the Agreement.14

Here’s the problem.  The status of the beef plant project prior to TFG’s execution of

its contract to manage the project; and, the design and construction of the plant are

irrelevant to the issues as framed by the indictment.  They are irrelevant to any issue on

which defendant would offer evidence in his case-in-chief.  Even accepting arguendo they

are relevant, Moultrie’s description of the relevance amounts to no more than conclusory

allegations which are insufficient to support a Rule 17(c) subpoena.

TFG’s performance of the Agreement is relevant to Count II of the indictment.

However, none of the subpoenaed documents are relevant to this issue.  As stated above

the documents can be collapsed into five categories: (1) Carothers contract to construct the

building; (2) Carothers bid to take over as project manager; (3) payments to Richard Hall;

(4) communications between Carothers and any other entity involved in the project; and,

(5) communications between Carothers and Purdy & Germany.

Carothers entered into its construction contract long before TFG ever came on the

scene.  By the time TFG was awarded its Project Management contract, Carothers had

finished approximately 70% of its design work and 30 to 35% of its construction work.  

Clearly, the first three categories have no relevance to TFG’s performance of TFG’s

contract.  More precisely, they have no relevance to whether TFG, under its Project

Management contract, billed for inter-company overhead and profits and tried to cover it

up because it knew these were non-compensable items.  Proving how Carothers carried
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out its contract tells the jury nothing about whether TFG tried to disguise its billing to cover

up inter-company profits and overhead.

The relevance issue is this: If Sean Carothers did not testify, could Moultrie introduce

these documents into evidence to show how Carothers figured his charges under his

Construction Contract, a contract different from TFG’s Project Management Contract?  At

worst this would show that both Carothers and Moultrie committed a fraud; evidence which

would be inadmissible impeachment as both an “other bad act” under 404(b) as well as

impeachment on a collateral issue in violation of 608(b).  At best it would  tend to show

what Carothers believed its contract allowed it to charge the project.  But is Carothers

“belief” under one contract relevant to TFG’s intent or lack of intent to defraud under

another contract?

The information clearly relevant to impeachment of Sean Carothers has no

relevance to Moultrie’s case-in-chief.  The only circumstances even approaching relevance

would require Moultrie to admit he was aware of and relied upon the manner in which

Carothers carried out its construction contract and how it bid on the project management

contract. 

Moultrie Has Failed To Prove Admissibility

Even if the records sought contain exculpatory material, if they are not admissible

in evidence, they may not be subpoenaed under Rule 17(c).  United States v. Cuthbertson,

651 F2d 189, 195 (3rd Cir. 1981).  Moultrie alleges the requested documents are admissible

under the business records exception to the hearsay rule, Fed. R. Evid. 803(6).  He is in

error for several reasons.

First, unless Moultrie is prepared to admit that the information contained in
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Carothers Construction Company’s records is “trustworthy,” the business records exception

does not apply and the Rule 17(c) subpoena should be quashed.  This point was

underscored by the District Court in quashing the subpoena served on the Arthur Anderson

accounting firm in Jeffery Skilling and Ken Lay’s case growing out of the Enron debacle:

“Defendants cite no authority in support of their argument that
documents are admissible under Rule 803(6) ‘regardless of the
truth of th[e] underlying information,’ and the court concludes
this argument contradicts Rule 803(6)’s express provision that
records maintained in the course of a regularly conducted
business activity are excepted from the hearsay rule ‘unless
the source of information...indicate[s] lack of trustworthiness.”
United States v. Skilling, 2006 WL 1006622 (S.D. Tex. 2006)
(emphasis the court’s)

Second, the business records exception to the hearsay rule applies only to

“document[s] prepared in the regular course of its author’s business.” Synder v. Whittaker

Corp., 839 F2d 1085, 1090 (5th Cir. 1988).  In order to withstand a motion to quash, “the

document sought must at the time [of the issuance of the subpoena] meet the tests of

relevancy and admissibility.”  United States v. Coriaty, 2000 WL 1099920 (S.D.N.Y. 2000).

What this means is that only those records created by Carothers Construction would

be admissible under the business records exception based on a predicate laid by the

Carothers Construction Company records custodian.  None of the other records generated

by other parties would be admissible. 

Third, and most importantly, the records are relevant only for the purpose of

impeaching the testimony of Sean Carothers, viz. – his testimony is not credible because

he computed his charges to the beef plant the same way TFG did; and, you can’t believe

him because he’s a crook.  They however would not be admissible on this issue because

under Fed. R. Evid. 608(b), a witness may not be impeached with extrinsic evidence on a
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collateral issue.  Interpreting Rule 608(b), the Fifth Circuit has held “This language prohibits

proof by extrinsic evidence even where the prosecutor ‘inquires into’ prior acts on cross-

examination.  The cross examining attorney must take the witness’ answer.”  United States

v. Davis, 2003 WL 1904038 (E.D. La 2003), citing United States v. Herzberg, 588 F2d 1219

(5th Cir. 1977).

“A matter is collateral if ‘the matter itself is not relevant in the litigation to establish

a fact of consequence, i.e., not relevant for a purpose other than mere contradiction of the

in-court testimony of the witness.’” United States v. Marino, 277 F3d 11, 25 (1st Cir. 2002).

Examples of application of the rule include: United States v. Smith, 605 F2d 839, 846-

47(5th Cir. 1979) (In prosecution for receiving, transporting and selling stolen motor

vehicles, can’t impeach witness with extrinsic evidence of his frequently asking defendant

to tamper with  odometers; also extrinsic evidence was inconsistent conduct, not prior

inconsistent statement, therefore not admissible under Rule 613(b) either); United States

v. Hawkins, 661 F2d 436, 444 (5th Cir. 1981) (can’t impeach with extrinsic evidence of post-

indictment  arrests on theory arrests would show bias because government may have

helped witness get out of jail); United States v. Williams, 822 F2d 512, 516-17 (5th Cir.

1987) (Can’t impeach witness in drug prosecution with extrinsic evidence of witness’ own

drug dealing); United States v. Davis, 2003 WL 1904038 (E.D. La. 2003) (Can’t impeach

law enforcement officer witness in drug prosecution with extrinsic evidence of complaints

against officer for planting drugs on individuals.  “Prior wrongful acts not resulting in criminal

conviction are ‘collateral matters.’”); United States v. Marino, supra., (can’t impeach witness

in RICO prosecution with extrinsic evidence about his violent, high-level drug dealing);

United States v. Ndiaye, 434 F3d 1270, 1284 (11th Cir. 2006) (can’t impeach “star
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Government witness” with extrinsic evidence of alleged threats and blackmail simply to

portray witness in a “negative light.”); United States v. Innamorati, 996 F2d 456, 479 (1st

Cir. 1993) (In drug prosecution can’t impeach confidential informant witness with extrinsic

evidence of his possession of cocaine on night of arrest); and, United States v. Polizzi, 801

F2d 1543 (9th Cir. 1986) (In racketeering prosecution can’t impeach witness with extrinsic

evidence regarding his lying about being a government informant).

Privileged Information Not Subject To Rule 17(c) Subpoena

If the documents demanded under a Rule 17(c) subpoena duces tecum are

privileged, the subpoena is quashed.  For a myriad (twenty or more) of cases interpreting

and enforcing this rule see 2 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Crim 3d §275, note 19.  The rule applies

to material which is privileged under either the attorney work product doctrine or the

attorney client privilege, e.g., United States v. Newell, 192 F.R.D. 587, 588-89 (N.D. Ill.

2000) (rule applied to exclude from Rule 17(c) subpoena material protected by attorney

client privilege).  Appeal of Hughes, 633 F2d 282 (3rd Cir. 1980) (work product doctrine

applies to block production of materials subpoenaed under federal criminal subpoena).

The rule also protects from disclosure under a Rule 17(c) subpoenaed material

which is protected by the law-enforcement privilege, the purpose of which is to protect law

enforcement techniques and procedures.  For an example see In re Dept. Of Investigation

of City of New York, 856 F2d 481, 483-84 (2nd Cir. 1988) where records of a commission

appointed by the mayor to investigate the conduct of a city official, which was related to a

federal investigation, was exempt from disclosure to the criminal defendant in related

proceedings under the law-enforcement privilege.

The fifth groups of records subpoenaed includes all communications between
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Carothers Construction Company and their attorneys, William Purdy & Ralph Germany.

These communications fall into three categories: (1) matters which Carothers Construction

consulted the attorneys about which involved possible claims and suits against TFG for

work done on the beef plant project by Carothers Construction; (2) Sean Carothers

consulting with them regarding the issue of whether payments to Richard Hall, in

connection with the beef plant project, were lawful; and, (3) Research and presentation of

research findings to the U.S. Attorney’s office on the issue of whether TFG, Moultrie and

the other defendants had violated the law in the manner in which they charged for their

work on the beef plant project.

The first two categories of these documents, advice on suits against TFG and advice

to Carothers on the payments to Richard Hall, are clearly protected by both the attorney

client privilege and the work product doctrine.  The third category of documents, advice to

the U.S. Attorney’s office regarding TFG’s conduct, is likewise protected by the law-

enforcement privilege.

Moultrie’s Subpoena Lacks Specificity

“Specificity serves to prevent a subpoena from being converted into a license for

what the Supreme Court in Bowman Dairy, 71 S.Ct. at 679, decried as a ‘fishing expedition

to see what may turn up.”  United States v. Skilling, 2006 WL 1006622  (S.D. Tex. 2006).

As the court noted in United States v. Ball, 1999 WL 974028 (D. Kan. 1999), in order to

satisfy the “specificity” requirement, the defendant must specify:

1. Why the materials are wanted;

2. What information is contained in the documents;

3. Why the documents would be relevant; and,
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4. Why the documents would be admissible at trial.

“The...specificity and relevance elements require more than the title of a document

and conjecture as to its contents.” United States v. Arditti, 955 F2d 331, 345(5th Cir. 1992).

“Rule 17(c) cannot be used as a device to gain understanding or explanation.” United

States v. Jasper, 2003 WL 1107526 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).  If you are seeking the documents

because you suspect what they may contain and you want to find out if you’re right, you

have failed the specificity test.

Examples of this rule include: United States v. Arditti, supra., 955 F2d at 346 (“To

ascertain these particulars” not specific enough); United States v. Ball, 1999 WL 974028

(D. Kan. 1999) (“That the requested material is ‘potentially’ relevant or admissible is not

enough, for both tests must be satisfied when the evidence is sought.”); United States v.

Smith, 1997 WL 79291 (E.D. La. 1997) (“To the extent that the government sought to

determine whether Smith made his allegation in the exact same manner in the various

interviews, that would be discovery.”); United States v. Hardy, 224 F3d 752, 755-56 (8th Cir.

2000) (not sufficient to simply state why the documents are necessary, the person seeking

the documents must “set forth what the subpoenaed materials contain.”  May not

“speculate” as to the contents.); United States v. Coriaty, 2000 WL 1099920 (S.D.N.Y.

2000) (stating what the documents “may contain” fails specificity test); and, United States

v. Coriaty, 2000 WL 1099920 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (to determine whether a loss of funds really

occurred fails specificity test.).

In the Skilling, supra., case Arthur Anderson had already produced 2,000 working

paper files in related Enron litigation.  In the defendant’s Rule 17(c) criminal subpoena, the

defendants described the documents they wanted produced by giving the file number and
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bates stamp numbers from the related litigation and also by identifying the documents “by

individual page numbers.”  Notwithstanding this specificity, the court granted Arthur

Anderson’s motion to quash because “Defendants’ conclusory description of the evidence

contained in the original documents they seek...and their failure to explain why that

evidence is relevant to the charges for which they are being prosecuted are insufficient to

satisfy Rule 17(c)’s relevancy requirement.”  

Compare the facts in Skilling to the case at bar.  After giving the term “document”

a definition which alone runs twenty-nine (29) lines,15 which is prefaced by the clause, “in

the broadest sense permitted by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rules of

this Court,” and which includes within its definition everything known to man since the art

of human communication came into being, the defendant, Moultrie, demands that

Carothers Construction Company, Inc. to produce “All documents” in the following groups

of records for the time frame beginning on January 1, 2002, and ending on December 31,

2004:

1. The compensation and costs for all employees, officers and consultants billed

to the beef plant (including all wage withholding, bonuses, etc.)

2. The rates (hourly, daily, weekly, etc.) charged for all employees, officers and

consultants billed to the beef plant;

3. The documents relied upon in formulating #1 and #2 above;

4. The documents relied upon in formulating the Carothers-Herndon proposal;
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5. The supporting documents for the rates to be charged under the Carothers-

Herndon proposal;

6. The “rate sheets” reflecting the rates to be charged for Sean Carothers and

all other personnel proposed to work on the Mississippi Beef project;

7. All invoices submitted by Carothers Construction Company on the Mississippi

Beef project;

8. All standard contract forms used as a basis by Carothers Construction

Company in drafting all contracts with owners and subcontractors on the beef

plant project;

9. All correspondence from or to Carothers Construction Company by Richard

Hall, Community Bank, the Mississippi Land, Water and Timber Board,

Hendon & Redmond of Ohio, the Mississippi Development Authority, and any

other agency or department of the State of Mississippi concerning the

Mississippi Beef plant project;

10. All documents showing money transferred or paid from Carothers

Construction Company, or from Sean Carothers, to Richard Hall, to any

family member of Richard Hall, to any agent of Richard Hall, or to any

business owned, in whole or in part, by Richard Hall;

11. All documents showing charges for insurance costs for the Mississippi beef

plant project for 2002, 2003, and 2004.

12. All documents related to the method by which Carothers Construction

Company estimated costs to perform the beef plant project including: (a) how

the beef plant proposal was compiled; (b) the factor, percentage, or other
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calculation used to account for potential adverse contingencies that were built

into the proposal; and, [c] how the amount of profit estimated by Carothers

Construction Company;

13. All documents showing how Carothers Construction charged for all employee

fringe benefits for all work related to the beef plant project; and,

14. All documents that show or relate to any communication between Carothers

Construction and Attorneys William Purdy or Ralph Germany concerning the

Facility Group, or the Mississippi Beef Plant project, or both.

United States v. Bermingham, 2007 WL 1052600 (S.D. Tex. 2007) is a case with

very similar document descriptions which the courts found lacking the necessary  specificity

and was thus a “fishing expedition.”  In Bermingham the defendants sought a Rule 17(c)

subpoena compelling the production of the following documents:

1. All communications (including e-mail) that were sent or received by the three

defendants plus two other individuals between May 1, 1999, through June

30, 2000;

2. All communications (including e-mail) that were sent or received by six

named individuals “relating to Enron” for the time frame of May 1, 1999,

through June 30, 2000;

3. All documents for the past eight years relating to any valuation, audit or

review of three different entities;

4. All reports of any internal or external investigations relating to certain

subjects;

5. All expense reports, telephone calls or audio recordings of telephone calls,
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and written or electronic diary or calendar for a number of individuals;

6. All management committee records for a year;

7. All documents relating to various asset sales for a period of two years;

8. All documents relating to a bonus plan for one year;

9. “All documents for a two-year period relating to ‘any compensation,

remuneration, bonus packages or schemes, bonuses, or any other payments’

received” by two persons, not defendants;

10. All Steering Committee minutes for a period of six years;

11. “All internal...correspondence and memorandum’ of any entity for more than

six years ‘relating to any fraud allegations’ against defendants;” 

12. “All documents” for more than a year regarding certain policies of certain

business entities; and,

13. All witness statements or depositions given by “any” officer or employee of

a company relating to certain subjects for the past seven years.

In denying the defendants’ motion for issuance of the Rule 17(c) subpoena, the

Bermingham Court said:

“Defendants proposed subpoena duces tecum repeatedly asks
for ‘all’ of whatever it is that follows, and what follows are
listings of documents and other things on broad, sweeping
subjects, sometimes over periods of months and sometimes
over periods of years.  This comprehensive request for all
documents, records, minutes, or whatever else is made without
any showing that they or any of them are relevant, or that they
or any of them would be admissible in evidence.  It is simply a
broad discovery request such as may be used, or at least
attempted, in civil case discovery.  Accordingly, because the
motion does not meet the exacting requirements of Criminal
Procedure 17(c) and is an attempt ‘to use the subpoena duces
tecum as a discovery device, which it is not,’ Arditti, 955 F2d at
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346 (quoting United States v. Nixon....)” (emphasis added, in
part)

Defendant Moultrie’s demands for documents in his Rule 17(c) subpoena duces

tecum are strikingly similar to the demands in Bermingham found to be so lacking in

specificity as to make them a “fishing expedition.”  Moultrie’s definition of “document” is

twenty-nine lines long and requests “all documents,” of every imaginable description.

These two attributes alone are sufficient to make the subpoena a “fishing expedition” and

it should be quashed in its entirety for this reason.

VI. CONCLUSION

The documents demanded can be collapsed into five categories: (1) Carothers

contract to construct the building; (2) Carothers bid to take over as project manager; (3)

payments to Richard Hall; (4) communications between Carothers and any other entity

involved in the project; and, (5) communications between Carothers and Purdy & Germany.

As to all the documents in all five categories, Moultrie has failed to prove relevance,

admissibility and/or specificity.  All documents in categories one through four, in addition

to other relevance problems, have no purpose other than impeachment of Sean Carothers’

expected testimony.  All the Purdy & Germany documents related to claims against TFG

and Carothers potential criminal liability are protected by the attorney client and work

product privileges.  All Purdy & Germany documents related to TFG are protected by the

law enforcement privilege.

Most importantly, Moultrie applied for and obtained this subpoena duces tecum

returnable prior to trial ex parte; a violation of Rule 17(c) which requires notice to the

subpoenaed party except in very limited circumstances not applicable here.
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For all these reasons, the Rule 17(c) subpoena duces tecum served by Defendant

Moultrie on Carothers Construction should be quashed in its entirety.

Respectfully submitted,

            /s/ Preston Rideout                                 
PRESTON RIDEOUT

A. Lee Abraham, Jr., MSB #1028
Preston Rideout, MSB #5346
Abraham & Rideout
Post Office Box 8407
Greenwood, MS 38935-8407
Tel: (662)453-3000

ATTORNEYS FOR CAROTHERS
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Preston Rideout, hereby certify that on July 16, 2008, I electronically filed the

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the ECF system which sent notification of such

filing to the following: 

William Chadwick Lamar
James D. Maxwell, II
U. S. Attorney’s Office
900 Jefferson Avenue
Oxford, MS 38655-3608

BUTLER, SNOW, O’MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC - Jackson
James B. Tucker
Amanda B. Barbour
P. O. Box 22567
Jackson, MS 39225-2567

BUTLER, SNOW, O’MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC - Memphis
Kari Foster Sutherland
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P. O. Box 171443
Memphis, TN 38187-1443

JONES DAY
Richard H. Deane, Jr.
Jean-Paul Boulee
1420 Peachtreet Street, N.E., Suite 800
Atlanta, GA 30309-3053

CHILIVIS, COCHRAN, LARKINS & BEVER
Anthony L. Cochran
Thomas D. Bever
3127 Maple Drive, N.E.
Atlanta, GA 30305-2503

FREELAND & FREELAND
Thomas H. Freeland, IV
P. O. Box 269
Oxford, MS 38655-0269

GILLEN WITHERS & LAKE LLC
Craig A. Gillen
One Securities Centre
3490 Piedmont Road, N.E., Suite 1050
Atlanta, GA 30305

LAWRENCE L. LITTLE & ASSOCIATES
Lawrence L. Little
829 N. Lamar, Suite 6
Oxford, MS 38655

GILLEN, WITHERS & LAKE, LLC
Thomas A. Withers
P. O. Box 11064
Savannah, GA 31401

MCKENNEY & FROELICH
Jerome J. Froelich, Jr.
1349 W. Peachtree Street, Suite 1250
Atlanta, GA 30309

JOHN M. COLETTE & ASSOCIATES
John M. Colette
P. O. Box 861
Jackson, MS 39205-0861
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THIS, the 16th day of July, 2008.

            /s/ Preston Rideout                                 
PRESTON RIDEOUT
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